# FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/3/2017 2:43 PM

Supreme Court No. <u>95184-5</u> Court of Appeals No. 74892-1

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

C.L., a sexual abuse victim, and Simeon J. Osborn as litigation guardian for S.L., a minor child and sexual abuse victim,

Respondents,

v.

State of Washington Department of Social & Health Services, and Jane and John Does 1-100,

Petitioner-Appellant.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ALLISON CROFT WSBA No. 30486 ALLYSON ZIPP WSBA No. 38076 Assistant Attorneys General PO Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504-0126 (360) 586-6300 OID #91023

###

### I. INTRODUCTION

The court of appeals' published opinion warrants review for three reasons. First, for duty the opinion relies on *HBH v. State*, 197 Wn. App. 77, 387 P.3d 1093 (2016), *review granted*, No. 94529-2 (Sept. 6, 2017). This Court has already decided that the duty *HBH* imposed on DSHS—a common law duty to protect foster children based on a special relationship under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315(b)(1965)—presents an issue of substantial public importance that warrants review.

Second, the court of appeals does not merely follow the *HBH* duty; it expands it. The opinion's duty requires DSHS to protect children who were previously in foster care from harm that did not begin until after they were adopted, when DSHS no longer had any relationship with them, much less a special relationship supporting a § 315(b) duty. Because the opinion effectively creates expansive new causes of action for negligent foster care placement and negligent adoption placement, it warrants review.

Third, the opinion affirms summary judgment in Plaintiffs' favor on breach and causation, despite DSHS having raised issues of material fact on both. The opinion discards the testimony of DSHS's expert witness that DSHS met the standard of care and ignores the testimony of DSHS's fact witnesses. It also overlooks Plaintiffs' failure to offer any evidence that the adoption court would have denied their adoption in 2004 but for DSHS's

alleged breach (the failure to find the unsubstantiated 2001 referral alleging that the Langes' then 12-year-old son had sexually assaulted his younger cousin), when no abuse had occurred during the entire 14 month foster care period. Depriving DSHS of its right to have a jury decide disputed factual issues on breach and causation, and erroneously subjecting DSHS to an eight million dollar judgment, also warrants review.

#### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

The Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS) petitions for review of the published decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals, *C.L.* & *S.L. v. Department of Social & Health Services*, No. 74892-1 slip op. (Aug. 21, 2017), *reconsideration denied* Oct. 4, 2017 (*see* Appendix [App.] A, B).

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the court of appeals err in deciding that DSHS owed a duty to foster children under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315(b) based on a special protective relationship, where DSHS's relationship with foster children does not involve the level of control and custody that Washington precedent requires for a special protective relationship?
- 2. Did the court of appeals err in deciding that DSHS owed a common law duty to foster children under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315(b), where the Legislature has waived the State's sovereign immunity in tort only "to the same extent as if it were a private person or corporation" (RCW 4.92.090) and there is no private sector analog to DSHS's conduct of operating the foster care system?
- 3. Assuming that a *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315(b) duty applies to the DSHS statutory responsibilities in connection with foster care:

- a. Plaintiffs allege that DSHS breached a duty to protect them by failing to deny the Langes' foster license and failing to oppose the Langes' adoption petition. Did non-movant DSHS raise a material question of fact on breach, requiring denial of summary judgment, through its expert's testimony that licensing the Lange foster home and recommending adoption met the standard of care?
- b. Plaintiffs allege that DSHS's breach lies in failing to consider the 2001 referral, and but for that breach the Lange foster home would not have been licensed. Did non-movant DSHS raise a material question of fact on cause-in-fact, requiring denial of summary judgment, through its expert's testimony that the unsubstantiated 2001 referral could not have been used to deny the Langes' foster license?
- c. Plaintiffs allege that DSHS's breach lies in failing to consider the 2001 referral, and but for that breach the Langes' adoption petition would have been denied. Did non-movant DSHS raise a material question of fact on cause-in-fact, requiring denial of summary judgment, where Plaintiffs introduced no evidence that the adoption court would have denied the adoption based on the unsubstantiated 2001 referral when during their 14 months in the Langes' foster care Plaintiffs were "thriving" and there was no evidence of any abuse?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Statement of Facts

### 1. DSHS licenses foster homes according to requirements specified in a comprehensive statutory scheme

DSHS licenses foster homes pursuant to a comprehensive statutory scheme that scrutinizes the qualifications of prospective foster parents, their households, and their homes. RCW 74.13, 74.15; WAC 388-148. Over all, prospective foster parents must demonstrate "[t]he understanding, ability, physical health, emotional stability and personality suited to meet the

physical, mental, emotional, and social needs" of foster children. Former WAC 388-148-0035(1) (2002); WAC 388-148-1365.

With respect to background checks, in 2002 when the Langes applied to be licensed as foster parents, anyone over age 16 living in the prospective foster home was subject to a criminal history background check. Former WAC 388-06-0110(4) (2002), former WAC 388-148-0035(2) (2002). DSHS policy also directed that its internal records be checked to determine if anyone living in the prospective foster home, regardless of age, had been identified to DSHS as part of a report of child abuse or neglect. CP 273. The law limited DSHS's use of such reports, and "no unfounded report of child abuse or neglect [could] be used to deny" a foster license. Former RCW 74.15.130(2)(a) (2002).

Then and now, if licensing requirements are met, DSHS must grant or renew a foster care license. RCW 74.15.100. By the Legislature's express intent, "[f]oster parents are responsible for the protection, care, supervision, and nurturing" of the foster child. RCW 74.13.330.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This prohibition has been clarified and currently provides that "*no unfounded, inconclusive, or screened-out report* of child abuse or neglect may be used to deny" a foster license. RCW 74.15.130(2)(a) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The intent to vest parental authority in foster parents has only increased. With the Legislature's adoption of the "reasonable and prudent parent standard," foster parents may authorize foster children to participate in all "normal childhood activities" "without prior approval of the caseworker, department, or court." RCW 74.13.710(3).

### 2. The Langes met the foster care licensing requirements, thus DSHS licensed them as foster parents

The Langes were licensed as foster parents in December 2002. CP 581. During the licensing process, the Langes disclosed to DSHS that their middle son, Dillon, had been identified as a victim in a CPS referral in 1997. CP 439, 468-69. The Langes did not disclose that in August 2001, then 12-year-old Dillon had been identified by another child as a suspect in a CPS referral related to his five-year-old cousin. CP 437, 573-77.

Because the 2001 referral did not allege abuse or neglect by a child's caregiver, per DSHS policy it was sent to law enforcement for investigation. CP 573-77, 625. The Whatcom County Sheriff's Office investigated the allegation and found no probable cause to file criminal charges. CP 441. DSHS's licensing social worker was not aware of the August 2001 referral during the licensing process. CP 437.

### 3. During DSHS-monitored foster care with the Langes, Plaintiffs were not abused, they were "thriving"

DSHS placed Plaintiffs in the Langes' foster care in June 2003. CP 549. For the next fourteen months, during DSHS's oversight of their foster placement, Plaintiffs were "thriving" in the Langes' care. CP 601, 533-34. Plaintiffs do not allege that DSHS negligently failed to uncover abuse while they were in the Langes' foster care. Indeed, both Plaintiffs

testified at deposition that no abuse occurred in the Lange home before they were adopted in August 2004. CP 457-59, 463, 465.

Plaintiffs' guardian ad litem visited them in the Lange home and approved of their placement there, writing to the court: Plaintiffs "are well bonded with each of the family members, are very integrated with the family, and are truly thriving in their care." CP 601.

## 4. After the court approved Plaintiffs' adoption, DSHS had no further involvement with Plaintiffs until C.L. disclosed abuse in 2013

When the Langes petitioned to adopt Plaintiffs, DSHS provided the court with an adoption pre-placement report of "all relevant information relating to the fitness" of the prospective adoptive parents. RCW 26.33.190(2). The DSHS social worker who drafted the adoption pre-placement report did not find the 2001 referral against Dillon.<sup>3</sup> CP 316-18. A post-placement report was also filed. RCW 26.33.200; CP 590-93.

The Whatcom County Superior Court approved Plaintiffs' adoption by the Langes in August 2004, severing DSHS's legal relationship with Plaintiffs. CP 612-15. DSHS had no involvement with Plaintiffs for the next nine years, until C.L. disclosed in 2013 that "between 7 and 12 years of age, she was sexually abused by her two older brothers." CP 619-23.

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> That individual, Helen Anderson, no longer a DSHS employee by Plaintffs' litigation, was Plaintiffs' principle fact witness on summary judgment. CP 287-92, 716-18.

### **B.** Procedural Facts

Plaintiffs filed this action in December 2014, alleging that DSHS's negligence in placing them in the Lange foster home and facilitating their adoption caused their post-adoption injuries. CP 1-8.

1. On Plaintiffs' motion, the trial court granted summary judgment on duty, breach, and causation; at trial, the jury then awarded Plaintiffs eight million dollars

Plaintiffs moved for partial summary judgment on liability, claiming that DSHS had breached the standard of care by facilitating their adoption into the Lange family in 2004, arguing theories they called "negligent investigation," "negligent foster placement," and "negligent adoption placement." CP 286-301, 715-16. DSHS responded that Plaintiffs could not establish the only recognized cause of action relevant to their case—the statutory claim for negligent investigation of a referral of child abuse or neglect under RCW 26.44.050—because there had been no referrals of abuse or neglect related to Plaintiffs until 2013. CP 414-30. DSHS also argued that it had raised material questions of fact on breach and causation through, *inter alia*, the declaration of its expert that licensing the Lange foster home and recommending adoption met the standard of care. CP 424-25, 466-71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> DSHS separately sought summary judgment directly on this basis. CP 760-74. The trial court denied DSHS's motion, without explaining how DSHS could be liable for negligent investigation of a child abuse referral when there had been no referral. CP 1346-47: RP 105.

The trial court granted Plaintiffs' motion, finding duty, breach, and causation as a matter of law, without elaboration, and reserving damages for trial.<sup>5</sup> CP 754-56; RP 71. Just before trial, the court adopted Plaintiffs' proposed order stating that duty was based on the statutory negligent investigation cause of action under RCW 26.44.050. CP 1667-76. A jury returned an eight million dollar verdict for Plaintiffs. CP 2353-55.

# 2. The Court of Appeals affirmed, finding duty on the alternative grounds of a special protective relationship and no material questions of fact on breach or causation

DSHS appealed, arguing that no duty under RCW 26.44 existed where there had been no reports or evidence of abuse. The court of appeals' opinion found that a "special relationship duty [under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315(b)] exists regardless of whether [DSHS] breached the duty imposed by RCW 26.44.050." App. A at 8. The opinion claimed that three decisions of this Court supported its application of a broad common law negligence duty owed by DSHS to protect children from future harm by third parties: *M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 70 P.3d 954 (2003); *Babcock v. State*, 116 Wn.2d 596, 809 P.2d 143 (1991); and *McKinney v. State*, 134 Wn.2d 388, 950 P.2d 461 (1998). App. A at 6-7. It declared without analysis that "[t]he evidence in this case establishes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The trial court also granted Plaintiffs' motion to strike all of DSHS's affirmative defenses. RP 71.

beyond dispute [DSHS's] protective relationship with the two plaintiffs[.]" App. A at 8. And it cited to *HBH* as additional authority for imposing a special protective relationship duty under § 315(b). App. A at 8.

The court of appeals also rejected DSHS's showing that it, the nonmoving party, had raised genuine issues of material fact on breach of duty and causation. App. A at 9-13. On breach, the opinion reviewed testimony from Plaintiffs' fact witness, but did not acknowledge that the record contained contrary testimony from DSHS's witnesses. App. A at 9. It relied upon the declaration of Plaintiffs' expert that DSHS breached the standard of care, while rejecting the opposite opinion reached by DSHS's expert. App. A at 10-11. On causation, the opinion credited Plaintiffs' fact witness and expert, and dismissed DSHS's expert, who opined that the unsubstantiated 2001 referral could not have been used to deny the Langes' foster care license because DSHS was prohibited by statute from denying a license based on an unfounded report of child abuse or neglect. App. A at 11-13. The opinion called the statute "irrelevant" and found, contrary to the evidence, that DSHS social workers "would have had every right and reason to recommend denial of the Langes' application" based on the 2001 referral. App. A at 11-13.

Seeking reconsideration, DSHS pointed out that this Court's decisions in *M.W.*, *Babcock*, and *McKinney* involve statutory, not common

law, duties. Mot. for Recons. (No. 74892-1) (App. C) at 2-6. DSHS also pointed out that the opinion misapprehended DSHS's relationship with foster children, which is defined by statute and does not involve the control and custody over foster children required to create a special protective relationship. App. C at 7-9. DSHS additionally argued that *HBH* is contrary to Washington law. App. C at 9. Regarding breach and causation, DSHS pointed out that the opinion did not consider the evidence in the light most favorable to non-movant DSHS. App. C at 13-22.

Reconsideration was denied on Oct. 4, 2017. App. B.

### V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- A. Review Is Warranted Because Holding That DSHS Owes Foster Children a Special Relationship Duty Under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315(b) Raises an Issue with Broad Public Importance and Conflicts with Washington Law
  - 1. This Court's grant of review in *HBH v. State* shows that applicability of the § 315(b) special relationship duty to DSHS presents a matter of substantial public importance

This Court has accepted the State's petition to review *HBH*, 197 Wn. App. 77. In *HBH*, Division II held that DSHS owes a special relationship duty to foster children under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315(b). *Id.* Here, Division I likewise imposed a special relationship duty on DSHS, citing *HBH*. App. A at 8-9. This Court's decision to review *HBH* confirms that whether DSHS owes a special relationship duty to foster children

presents an issue of substantial public importance. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Division I's imposition of the duty here further underscores the importance of the issue.<sup>6</sup> This Court should accept review of the petition.

- 2. Finding that DSHS has a special protective relationship with foster children conflicts with the decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals that define what constitutes a special protective relationship
  - a. A special protective relationship arises from the defendant's control over the individual and the environment the defendant is obliged to protect

"As a general rule, there is no duty to prevent a third party from intentionally harming another," but a duty to protect from such harm can arise where "a special relation exists between the [defendant] and the other which gives the other a right to protection." *Niece v. Elmview Grp. Home*, 131 Wn.2d 39, 43, 929 P.2d 420 (1997) (internal quotations omitted); *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315(b) (1965). The essential rationale for why this special relationship creates this duty to protect against intentional acts by third parties "is that the [individual] is placed under the control and protection of the [defendant], with resulting loss of control [by the individual] to protect himself or herself." *N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist.*, 186 Wn.2d 422, 433, 378 P.3d 162 (2016) (internal quotations omitted). Based on assuming this control, "[t]he defendant may therefore be required to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> That importance is corroborated further by the volume of cases already pending against DSHS, seeking to apply or expand the broad *HBH* duty. *See* App. D.

guard his or her charge against harm from others." *Niece*, 131 Wn.2d at 443 (internal quotations omitted). "Washington courts have recognized this type of special relationship, and corresponding duty, between certain individuals and schools, common carriers, hotels, hospitals, business establishments, taverns, possessors of land, and custodial mental institutions." *Donohoe v. State*, 135 Wn. App. 824, 837, 142 P.3d 654 (2006).

Washington appellate decisions considering the § 315(b) special protective relationship have determined that whether a relationship is "special" and gives rise to a duty depends on the control and custody the defendant has over the individual and the individual's environment. *See N.L.*, 186 Wn.2d at 431 (school districts have "duty to protect the students in their custody from foreseeable dangers.") (emphasis added); *Bell v. Nw. Sch. of Innovative Learning*, 198 Wn. App. 117, 391 P.3d 600 (2017) (holding that school *did not* owe duty of care to plaintiff-student after it transferred custody of student to third party).

Thus, where there is control and custody, a special protective relationship exists and triggers the corresponding duty to exercise

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In *N.L.*, this Court clarified that "where a duty arises and a breach of that duty occurs while a student *is in a school district's custody*, then whether the *scope of that duty extends* to incidents off campus will depend on whether such incidents were foreseeable to the school district." *Bell*, 198 Wn. App. at 123 (citing *N.L.*, 186 Wn.2d at 435) (emphasis added). *N.L.* thus confirms that control, via custody, is the determining factor for whether a special protective relationship and corresponding duty arise in the first place.

reasonable care to protect against intentional harm by third parties. *N.K. v. Corp. of Presiding Bishop of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints*, 175 Wn. App. 517, 529, 307 P.3d 730 (2013) (church has duty if molestation "occurs during church activities, when the children are in the 'custody and care' of the church"). But absent control and custody, no special relationship—and no corresponding tort duty—exists. *C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wn.2d 699, 729-30, 985 P.2d 262, *as amended* (Sept. 8, 1999) (majority of this Court rejecting the notion that the church had a special protective relationship and duty to prevent harm "that occurred as a result of a private, nonchurch-related child care arrangement between members of a church congregation.") (Madsen, J., concurring/dissenting).

Two cases involving vulnerable adults in need of 24-hour care illustrate this distinction: *Caulfield v. Kitsap County*, 108 Wn. App. 242, 29 P.3d 738 (2001), and *Donohoe*, 135 Wn. App. 824. In *Caulfield*, a special protective relationship existed where government agents were the sole monitor of the 24-hour care that Mr. Caulfield received, in the isolated setting of his private home, after he was moved there from a nursing facility. *Caulfield*, 108 Wn. App. at 245-47, 256 (County case manager

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The *HBH* opinion mistakenly claims *Caulfield* "stands for the proposition than entrustment, not custody, is at the heart of a special protective relationship." *HBH*, 197 Wn. App. at 91. But in *Caulfield*, "entrustment" existed because the government agent took

"required to make assessment visits" and "responsible for establishing Caulfield's service plans, monitoring his care, and providing crisis management, including terminating in-home care if it was inadequate to meet his needs." *Id.* at 256.)

In *Donohoe*, by contrast, DSHS did not have a special protective relationship and duty to Mrs. Donohoe where "it did not employ, supervise, or otherwise oversee [her] care or treatment" at a private nursing home. *Donohoe*, 135 Wn. App. at 840. "[U]nlike the government-supervised, inhome-care management arrangement in *Caulfield*," DSHS was not responsible for Mrs. Donohoe's individual daily care. *Donohoe*, 135 Wn. App. at 842. Rather, DSHS was responsible only for determining her eligibility for services, and monitoring the general, regulatory-compliance status and licensing of the nursing home. *Id*.

b. DSHS does not exercise the direct control over foster children and foster homes required to create the special protective relationship described in Washington law and § 315(b)

The Legislature did not vest DSHS with the type of direct control

defining by illustration that "entrustment" means "responsible for every aspect of [the other's] well-being." *Niece*, 131 Wn.2d at 50 (internal quotations omitted).

14

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