FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/11/2017 12:52 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95184-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

C.L., a sexual abuse victim, and Simeon J. Osborn as litigation guardian for S.L., a minor child and sexual abuse victim,

Respondents,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES, and JANE and JOHN DOES, 1-100,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974 DEARIE LAW GROUP, P.S.

By: Raymond J. Dearie WSBA No. 28792

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

D. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied.

1. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the statutory duty to protect dependent children when placing them in foster care and in adoptive homes imposes upon DSHS a duty of care enforceable in tort.

The Department focuses on whether "DSHS owes foster children a special relationship duty under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315(b)." (Petition 10) But the Court of Appeals did not rely solely on a continuing "protective relationship." (Petition 8) Instead, it correctly relied upon the statutory directives that "the department . . . protect children by doing a careful evaluation of a foster or adoptive home before recommending placement" of dependent children. (Op. 7) The Court of Appeals' reliance on these "statutory imperatives" (Op. 7) follows settled law; this Court has long held that the Legislature intended to protect a discrete class in directing DSHS to investigate before placing vulnerable children in foster and adoptive homes.

This Court held in *Halvorson v. Dahl*, 89 Wn.2d 673, 676-77, 574 P.2d 1190 (1978) that statutory directives that impose a duty on state and local government to a circumscribed class, as opposed to the public as a whole, may be enforceable in tort:

By our language in *Halvorson*, we advised legislative bodies that, when they impose a duty on public officials as a whole, no duty in tort is owed to a particular individual. If, on the other hand, the legislation evidences a clear intent to identify a particular and circumscribed class of persons, such persons may bring an action in tort for violation of the statute or ordinance.

Munich v. Skagit Emergency Comm. Ctr., 175 Wn.2d 871, 889, ¶ 34,

288 P.3d 328 (2012) (Chambers, J., concurring, quoting Baerlein v.

State, 92 Wn.2d 229, 232, 595 P.2d 930 (1979)).

This Court has relied on this "legislative intent" exception to the public duty doctrine in holding DSHS to a duty of reasonable care to children and their families, enforceable in tort, when investigating allegations of child abuse or neglect under RCW ch. 26.44. *Tyner v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 77-82, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000). Similarly, this Court held that the Department's statutory duty to disclose a child's medical and familial background information to prospective adoptive parents under RCW 26.33.350 gave rise to an actionable tort claim in *McKinney v. State*, 134 Wn.2d 388, 395-96, 950 P.2d 461 (1998). Citing *McKinney*, the Court of Appeals here correctly held that the statutory imperatives governing the Department's duties to evaluate prospective foster or adoptive homes before recommending placement imposed upon the Department an actionable duty to do so with reasonable care. (Op. 7)

DSHS ignores the "statutory imperatives" relied upon by the Court of Appeals in this case. The statutory purpose of foster home licensing is "[t]o safeguard the health, safety, and well-being of children." RCW 74.15.010(1). In investigating the qualifications of a prospective foster family, DSHS is required to assess "[t]he physical and mental health of all members of the household." WAC 388-148-1370. Similarly, "the purpose of adoption is to provide stable homes for children." RCW 26.33.010. RCW 26.33.180 requires DSHS to prepare a preplacement report that "include[s] a recommendation as to the fitness" of prospective adoptive parents. RCW 26.33.190(2). The preplacement report "shall be based on a study which shall include an investigation of the home environment" and "family life" of the prospective adoptive parents. RCW 26.33.190(2). DSHS also is statutorily obligated to prepare a postplacement adoption report "contain[ing] all reasonably available information concerning the . . . home environment, family life," in order "to determine the nature and adequacy of the placement and to determine if the placement is in the best interest of the child." RCW 26.33.200.

These statutory duties are not "owed to the public in general." *Munich*, 175 Wn.2d at 878, ¶ 13. Instead, they are expressly intended "to safeguard the health and welfare of dependent children" who are placed in foster care and adoptive homes. *Sheikh v. Choe*, 156 Wn.2d 441, 452, ¶ 18, 128 P.3d 574 (2006) (Petition 15). The Court of Appeals correctly relied on established law in holding that these statutory obligations evinced a legislative intent to impose upon DSHS an enforceable tort duty on behalf of the narrow and circumscribed class of vulnerable children the legislature intended to protect.

2. DSHS's control over dependent children gives rise to a common law duty to use reasonable care to prevent a harmful placement.

The Court of Appeals properly held that DSHS, as custodian of dependent children, has a duty to exercise reasonable care before placing vulnerable children in an abusive home. While that special relationship is enough to impose a common law duty of care, at a minimum DSHS had a duty to avoid affirmatively increasing the danger faced by C.L. and S.L. once taking them from their mother.

Mischaracterizing the basis for the claims here as negligent supervision, not negligent investigation and placement, DSHS contends that only the foster parent, not the Department, has the "direct control over foster children and foster homes required to create a special relationship." (Petition 14-15) But as the Court of Appeals held, the Department's duty also "arises from the special relationship between the department as a placement agency and dependent children, allowing such children to seek a tort remedy when they are damaged by the department's negligent failure to uncover pertinent information about their prospective adoptive home." (Op. 7) Established law supports the Court of Appeals decision, most notably Babcock v. State, 116 Wn.2d 596, 601, 809 P.2d 143 (1991), in which this Court held that DSHS could be liable for its negligence in placing dependent children in foster care in the home of a sex offender without discovering his criminal history, "which included charges of forcible rape, sexual assault, and attempted rape."

Although the "specific holding of *Babcock* dealt with immunity," this Court has since made clear that "the gravamen of the plaintiff's claim [in *Babcock*] was 'negligent investigation.'" *Tyner*,

12

141 Wn.2d at 79; see also M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 149 Wn.2d 589, 597, 70 P.3d 954 (2003) (recognizing "an actionable duty that flows from DSHS to both children and parents who are harmed by DSHS negligence that results in . . . placing a child into an abusive home."). *Babcock* refutes the Department's argument that its only actionable duty to dependent children arises from the statutory obligation under RCW ch. 26.44 to investigate allegations of child abuse or neglect (Petition 17-18 & n.11; App. Br. 21, 23); the Court of Appeals properly rejected this contention. (Op. 8: "The special relationship duty exists regardless of whether the department breached the duty imposed by RCW 26.44.050")

The "special relationship" duty of care assumed by DSHS when it takes charge of dependent children and approves their placement is based on the fact that dependent children are unable to protect themselves. *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §320, cmt. b (1965). And contrary to the Department's astounding argument that the waiver of sovereign immunity under RCW 4.92.090 precludes its liability "to the same extent as if it were a private person" because "DSHS actions challenged by Plaintiffs have no private sector analog" (Petition 16-17), both governmental agencies and private parties have consistently been held to a duty to protect vulnerable persons under their supervision who are incapable of protecting themselves.²

Even absent its special relationship with dependent children, DSHS had an independent duty to protect C.L. and S.L. from criminal acts in the Lange home because the Department's own actions in placing the girls there exposed them to a significantly increased risk of harm. *See Washburn v. City of Federal Way,* 178 Wn.2d 732, 760, ¶ 65, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013) (leaving assailant home alone with victim after serving anti-harassment order "created a new and very real risk to [victim's] safety"); *Parrilla v. King County,* 138 Wn. App. 427, 440-41, ¶¶ 29-30, 157 P.3d 879 (2007) (bus driver increased risk of harm by leaving deranged passenger on board bus

² See, e.g., N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist., 186 Wn.2d 422, 430, ¶ 12, 378 P.3d 162 (2016) (schools have "an enhanced and solemn duty of reasonable care to protect their students" from harm inflicted by third persons) (internal quotation marks and quoted source omitted); Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor, 170 Wn.2d 628, 639, ¶ 19, 244 P.3d 924 (2010) ("jailors have a special relationship with inmates, creating an affirmative duty to provide for inmate health, welfare, and safety"); C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima, 138 Wn.2d 699, 985 P.2d 262 (1999) (church owed duty to protect children from sexual abuse given church's knowledge that deacon had been previously accused of inappropriate sexual contact); Caulfield v. Kitsap Cnty., 108 Wn. App. 242, 255-56, 29 P.3d 738 (2001) ("Profoundly disabled persons are totally unable to protect themselves and are thus completely dependent not only on their caregivers but also their case managers for their personal safety."); Hunt v. King Cnty., 4 Wn. App. 14, 481 P.2d 593 (county psychiatric hospital liable for failing to protect psychotic patient), rev. denied, 79 Wn.2d 1001 (1971); Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 315(b), 320 (1965) and notes of decisions.

on public street with engine running); *compare Robb v. City of Seattle*, 176 Wn.2d 427, 437-38, ¶ 22, 295 P.3d 212 (2013) (officers engaged in no affirmative malfeasance by failing to pick up shot gun shells dropped by suspect); *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 302B (1965) ("An act or an omission may be negligent if the actor realizes or should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to another through the conduct of the other or a third person which is intended to cause harm, even though such conduct is criminal.").

The Department's attempt to distance itself from the grievous abuse that befell C.L. and S.L. after it placed the girls in the Lange home ignores both its custodial duties to dependent children and its own actions in manifestly increasing the risk of harm by placing the girls with a family that contained an accused rapist. The Court of Appeals properly held that DSHS owed C.L. and S.L. a common law duty of reasonable care to avoid a harmful placement.

> 3. The Court of Appeals decision will be unaffected by the Court's review in *H.B.H. v. State*, in which Division Two relied on a common law special relationship duty to protect dependent children after placement.

The Department's statutory and common law duty to perform a reasonable investigation *before* placing a dependent child into a dangerous home is distinct and much narrower than the ongoing duty to dependent children *after* they have been placed in foster care that is at issue in *H.B.H. v. State*, 197 Wn. App. 77, 387 P.3d 1093 (2016). The Department's contention that the Court of Appeals here, as in *H.B.H.*, imposed a continuing duty to protect dependent children from harm after a placement has been made, is without merit. This Court should deny review because Division One's decision does not impose upon DSHS a duty to protect every child under its supervision from future abuse at the hands of adoptive parents (Petition 1, 15-16), and will in no event be affected by the outcome of this Court's review in *H.B.H*.

In *H.B.H.*, DSHS placed five foster children with the Hamricks over a two-year period; the Hamricks abused at least three, if not all, of the children prior to adopting them. 197 Wn. App. at 81-82, ¶¶ 6-8. Nothing in the Department's files indicated a risk of harm; plaintiffs instead contended that a DSHS social worker had not conducted health and safety checks every 90 days as required. *H.B.H.*, 197 Wn. App. at 81-82, ¶¶ 4-8. Reasoning that DSHS had a "protective special relationship" with the children, Division Two reversed the trial court's dismissal of the children's tort claims, holding that "DSHS owed the children a duty . . . to take ordinary

care to protect them from the tortious or criminal conduct of their foster parents." *H.B.H.*, 197 Wn. App. at 85, \P 21, 91-92, $\P\P$ 33-36.

H.B.H.'s holding that DSHS has a "common law duty of reasonable care to protect the children it places in foster homes," 197 Wn. App. at 85, ¶ 21, goes far beyond Division One's recognition in this case that DSHS has both a statutory duty to "protect children by doing a careful evaluation of a foster or adoptive home *before* recommending placement" (Op. 7) (emphasis added), and a common law duty to refrain from affirmatively increasing the risk that C.L. and S.L. would be sexually abused by placing them into a home, for foster care or adoption, that DSHS knew or should have known was dangerous. (Op. 7-8)

By contrast, there is no issue concerning the Department's investigation prior to foster placement in *H.B.H.*, 197 Wn. App. at 81-82, ¶¶ 4-10. The *H.B.H.* plaintiffs do not argue that DSHS knew or should have known that it was placing children in a dangerous home, but that DSHS has a "broad, ongoing duty to dependent children who arrive in foster care" to protect them from any harm arising after placement. (Resp. Supp. Br. No. 94529-2 at 14-18) Indeed, DSHS concedes in *H.B.H.* that a duty may exist under the facts here, arguing that there can be no "special relationship duty" in the absence of "past

known behavior of a third-party that made the plaintiff 'the foreseeable victim.'" (Petition for Review No. 94529-2 at 17, quoting *Caulfield v. Kitsap Cnty.*, 108 Wn. App. 242, 253, 29 P.3d 738 (2001).)

This Court should reject the Department's reliance on the grant of review in *H.B.H.* as a basis for review here because the decision whether to impose a continuing duty of care to dependent children *after* placing them into foster care has no bearing on DSHS's duty in the first instance to investigate *before* placing dependent children in an abusive home. Rather than prolong the uncertainty for these emotionally traumatized children pending this Court's decision on a different issue in *H.B.H.*, this Court should deny review.

4. DSHS clearly breached its duty and caused the plaintiffs harm when it failed to discover the CPS referral hiding in plain sight in its files.

The Department's own caseworker conceded that she "should have seen" the 2001 CPS referral to law enforcement when evaluating the Langes but just "missed it," and that she "would not have placed" the girls with the Langes had she known of the referral, because abuse "was foreseeable." (CP 317-18, 320; *see also* CP 271: testimony of expert Barbara Stone that DSHS breached the standard of care by placing the girls in foster care with the Langes and recommending the Langes' adoption) The Court of Appeals properly held that the conclusory assertion of the Department's expert that its actions "were reasonable and met the social work standard of care" (CP 471) failed to raise a factual issue. (Op. 10-11) That fact-specific application of CR 56 presents no issue that merits review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b).

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